THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

APR 05 2016

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough
Charleston County Master in Equity

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002590

BRENT E. BENTRIM,Appellant

v.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert B. Varnado (S.C. Bar # 0007850)
Alexis M. Wimberly (S.C. Bar # 101611)
BROWN & VARNADO LLC
P.O. Box 1127
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465
(843) 737-7300
Attorneys for Appellant

Other Counsel of Record:
Charles M. Baker III, Esquire
S. Sterling Laney III, Esquire
John C. Hawk IV, Esquire
WOMBLE CARLYLE SANDRIDGE & RICE, LLP
P.O. Box 999

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 25, 2011, the Appellant Brent E. Bentrin (“Bentrin” or “Appellant”), a homeowner in Charleston County brought a *pro se* action against the Respondent, Wells Fargo Bank, NA (“Wells Fargo” or “Respondent”) asserting that Wells Fargo “engaged in fraudulent, deceptive and dishonest trade practices that are prohibited by statute and regulation in the servicing” of his loan. [R. 28-36]. The gravamen of Bentrin’s Complaint is that the Respondent’s debt collection and foreclosure activities were subject to the consumer protection laws of South Carolina which prohibit unfair and deceptive practices.

The same month – in April, 2011 – Respondent entered into a consent agreement with its federal regulator, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”), wherein Wells Fargo admitted it was deficient in regards to mortgage loan servicing and foreclosures – to include filing foreclosure actions when accounts were current, as well as foreclosing without authority to do so. [R 1176-1210].

On December 13, 2011, Respondent moved to amend its Answer and assert a Counterclaim in which it defended its actions the successor by merger to the original Note payee, First Union National Bank (“FUNB”), claiming an “alleged loan contract as a complete bar and defense to this action.” [R.41-55]. Wells Fargo failed to attach a copy of the original Note. [*Id.*]. For well over a year, Wells Fargo refused to produce the original instrument or account for its whereabouts.

On December 10, 2013, in Wells Fargo’s Answer and Counterclaims to Bentrin’s Amended Complaint, Wells Fargo recognized the Note was not made in favor of the Respondent, but instead to FUNB. [R. 84-111]. Wells Fargo answered with affirmative defenses of holder and owner, i.e., a “self-servicer”, and Counterclaim. [*Id.*]

This case is not about the enforceability of the Appellant's obligations under the Note *per se*, but whether Respondent had the legal right to enforce the Note as its owner and holder after November 2006. Appellant contends that under South Carolina law, the production of the Note in January 2013 fails to prove Wells Fargo was in possession of the Note after November 2006 or that it has the right to enforce the Note now.

On March 12, 2002, Appellant executed *inter alia* a Negotiable Promissory Note ("Note") in the amount of \$182,700 for the First Union National Bank ("FUNB") ARM/HELOC payable to "First Union National Bank or order," along with a mortgage, a First Union Adjustable Rate Disclosure Statement and other closing documents. [R 1115]. This loan was (and remains) in **second** place on Appellant's home located at 10 Nicholson Street, Charleston, South Carolina 29407. [*Id.*]

Respondent's records show that Appellant's Note was sold on November 29, 2006 for \$174,504.20 to an unknown "pool" investor. The sale was not revealed to Appellant until late 2011. [R 1382]. The name of the purchaser was not revealed until 2014, immediately prior to the summary judgment hearing [R. 1294-1298]. The purported sale documents were not produced until 2015. [R. 1309-1318].

On September 5, 2007, Respondent filed a Summons and Complaint and *Lis Pendens* in its own name, case number 07-CP-10-3933, styled *Wachovia Bank, National Association successor by merger to First Union National Bank v. Brent E. Bentrin, et al.*, in which it specifically represented to the Court that it was the holder of the Note and otherwise averred to the Master in Equity that it had the sole and exclusive right to foreclose on the Note. [R. 706-738, ¶¶ 17, 18]. In the Fair Debt Collection Practices Notice appended

thereto, Respondent averred that it was the creditor to whom the debt is owed. [R. 714]. This case was dismissed on December 21, 2007. [R. 25].

Once again, on July 30, 2009, Respondent – in its own name – filed another Summons and Complaint and *Lis Pendens*, case number 09-CP-10-4700, styled *Wachovia Bank, National Association s/b/m to First Union National Bank v. Brent E. Bentrim, et al.* [R. 739-757]. Once again, Wachovia Bank stated that it was the holder of the Note. [R. 733 ¶ 13 – R. 744 ¶ 1] and otherwise averred to the Master in Equity that it had the sole and exclusive right to foreclose on the Note. [*Id.*]. In the Fair Debt Collection Practices Notice appended thereto, Wachovia Bank, N.A. again averred that it was the creditor to whom the debt is owed. [R. 746].

The 2009 Foreclosure case was dismissed by the Charleston County Master in Equity on July 7, 2010 under certain restrictions – one of which specifically required Respondent to provide Appellant with a calculated payoff prior to refilling a claim under the Note and mortgage. [R. 26]. At no time during the pendency of either the 2007 suit (07-CP-10-3933) or the 2009 suit (09-CP-10-4700) – or during the period between the two actions – did Respondent advise the Court that it did not own the Note.

Prior to the dismissal of the 2009 suit, Wachovia merged with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”) effective March 20, 2010. Thereafter, Wells Fargo continued to assert that Bentrim was in default and even reported that there was a successful foreclosure against him.

Despite repeated attempts to work with Respondent, Appellant ultimately filed the instant action on April 25, 2011, alleging causes of action against Respondent for

mishandling his loan; fraudulent, unfair and deceptive conduct; improper debt collection practices; and misapplication of principle and interest. [R. 28-36].

Respondent answered on May 27, 2011 without filing a counterclaim. [R. 37-40]. Over six months later, on December 13, 2011, Respondent moved to amend its Answer to assert a Counterclaim for enforcement of the Note which was granted by the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas on April 25, 2012 and served May 8, 2012. [R. 41-54].

In the Counterclaim, Respondent asserts that the Note had been issued and delivered to it; that it had the right to foreclose because demand had been made allowing Bentrim the right to cure his default; and that Bentrim had failed to comply. [*Id.*]. Significantly, Respondent neither pled possession of the Note nor attached a copy to its Counterclaim. Bentrim timely replied the Counterclaim on September 11, 2012, denying the Note was payable to Wells Fargo, that any such demand was ever made, that he was in default or that Respondent was the holder. [*Id.*]

During this same time period, Respondent was sued by the Attorney General of South Carolina [along with 48 other Attorneys General and the United States government] for, among other things, Wells Fargo's unfair and deceptive practices under the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code by asserting 'holder' status in debt collection and foreclosure actions when it was not the holder. Respondent settled with the state for nearly \$30 million by entering into a Consent Order to avoid criminal prosecution. [R. 1211-1284].

In initial discovery requests to Wells Fargo served in 2011, Bentrim requested that Wells Fargo admit whether it had ever sold the Bentrim Note and/or had ever acted as a

“servicer;” Wells Fargo expressly denied both. [R. 441-443, ¶¶ 1, 2, 4, 6, 14; R. 445 ¶ 1]. Those discovery responses have never been supplemented.

At a hearing on October 5, 2011, when Appellant moved to compel production of the original Note, counsel for Wells Fargo argued that a copy would suffice because: *“This note is a portfolio note. It’s not securitized - a securitized loan.”* [R. 763]. The Note produced by Wells Fargo was taken from the closing attorneys’ file, which Wells Fargo argued was sufficient in lieu of the original.

After additional demands were made for the original Note, on April 3, 2012, Wells Fargo submitted a Lost Note Affidavit (“LNA”) dated February 7, 2012 [R. 1285-1293] signed by Vice President Tracy M. Thomas as well as a “copy” [R. 1289-1282, 1139-1142] of the Note certified as a *“true, correct and substantial copy of the lost or destroyed Note.”* [R. 1287, ¶8]. No other documents or records were attached to the Affidavit. Affiant Thomas further stated *“that Wells Fargo Bank, NA as successor by merger to Wachovia Bank, NA, successor by merger to First Union National Bank has not pledged, assigned, transferred, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of the Note.”* [R. 1286 ¶ 5]. Thomas further testified that she had personal knowledge that Wells Fargo was the present holder and owner of the Note. [R. 1286 ¶6.C].

Ms. Thomas would later testify the original Note was purportedly found and returned to the Wells Fargo’s vault on February 27, 2012, [R. 852 p. 119:14] some six (6) weeks prior to providing Bentrim with the same [R. 1115-1118], and such discovery was not provided until February 2013! Ms. Thomas claimed that when the Note first arrived in the vault in 2002, a barcode was placed upon it and then was imaged into a system call CLPR. [R. 848 p. 104: 9-16]. Prior to January 2013, however, none of the “copies” of the

Note that were produced had a barcode in this or any previous litigation.

Wells Fargo also produced an ACLS History Card Report on November 8, 2011. [R. 1355-1414]. On November 29, 2006 an entry is clearly marked “Loan Sold to Pool” which contradicted the LNA. [R. 1382; R. 1286]. Despite evidence on the ACLS History Card print out to the contrary, Ms. Thomas testified repeatedly that the Bentrim Note was **never** sold but she then admitted to **never** even looking at Wachovia Bank NA’s servicing records contained in ACLS. [R. 840, p 72: 6-23].

This matter was referred to Judge Scarborough, Charleston County Master-In-Equity on or about November 13, 2012. [R. 23].

In March 2013, Wells Fargo admitted its conduct in regards to the 2009 action financially harmed Bentrim. [R. 1299-1305].

On December 10, 2013, the Respondent filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaim to assert “Wells Fargo Bank, successor by merger to Wachovia Bank, NA as successor by merger to First Union National Bank, *is now* the owner and holder of the Note and Mortgage and therefore is the real party in interest entitled to bring this action against Appellant.” [R. 84, 106 ¶ 172].

The evidence on the record from the LNA, however, was that Respondent lost an unstamped Note and that the Note had never been transferred, sold, etc. [R. 1286, ¶ 5]. In the 2007 and 2009 suits, Respondent was trying to enforce an unstamped Note, as a holder, via successor by merger to Wachovia Bank, NA – ignoring the evidence that the Bentrim Note was sold on November 26, 2006. [R. 706-738, 739-757, 1320-1350].

Assuming Wells Fargo’s assertion in its December 10, 2013 Amended Answer and Counterclaim that it “*is now the owner and holder of the Note and Mortgage*” is true, this

arguably constitutes an admission by Wells Fargo that it was not the owner and holder of the Note and Mortgage at the commencement of this action, nor during the 2007 and 2009 suits. [R. 106, ¶ 172].

After it filed the Amended Counterclaim, Wells Fargo then announced that it had located the Note. Significantly, the copy of the note attached to the LNA [R. 1289-1292], which Ms. Thomas certified as a “*true, correct and substantial copy of the lost or destroyed Note*” materially differed from the Note which Wells Fargo exhibited to the Court which had two barcodes on it. [R.1115-1118].

At a hearing on February 10, 2014, which largely focused on discovery that would prove or disprove a sale, counsel for Wells Fargo exhibited to the Master the original Note [R. 1115-1118] but was adamant that there was never a sale:

“...we say we never sold the Note. We were the owner and holder through First Union, Wachovia and Wells Fargo. I know they disagree with that, but that is our position.” [R. 895:8-11]

“Your Honor, as I have told [Appellant’s counsel], I can’t prove a negative.” [R.921:14-15]

“Your Honor, we have the original note. There is no allonge to it. There is no assignment of the mortgage. We have the public record. We’ve seen, you know, so there is no other evidence of a sale. And he’s like I want to see all the documents evidencing a sale because this says there’s a sale. I have to have somebody explain what that is, but there are no other documents that I have relating to a sale because our position is there was not a sale. We were always the owner and holder of the note.” [R.922:19 – R923:2]

The Court then made the following ruling, as established in the March 5, 2014

Order:

“Within (30) days of the hearing on this motion, WFB, NA shall produce all records in its possession, custody or control relating in any way to the sale, repurchase, transfer, assignment, delivery or hypothecation of the Notes or Mortgages associated with the subject loan to any third-party, including but

not limited to supporting documentation noted on the ACLS History Card at 11/29/06 and then the repurchase on 05/13/10. [R. 15].

It bears repeating that the so-called “Original Note” is not identical to the prior versions presented to Appellant, further calling into question how Respondent could have been in possession of the “Original Note” prior to January, 2013. [[R.1115-1118; R. 1119-1142WF 223-226, R. 706-738, R 739-757, R.106].

When Appellant moved for sanctions for failure to comply with the March 5, 2014 Order, another hearing took place on April 28, 2014. Once again, counsel for Wells Fargo was adamant there was no sale:

“Your Honor, Wells Fargo and its predecessors have always been the holder of this Note. We got it. It hadn’t been endorsed. It hadn’t been sold to anybody.” [R. 965: 22-25]

“We sold a participation interest in the note, but the note itself was not sold. We’ve got it.”[Tr. 966:1-4]

“We believe and we intend to show Your Honor today that we in good faith produced everything Your Honor ordered.” [Tr. 967:11-12]

“As we’ve said, we have the original note. It’s not endorsed.” [R. 1015:5-6]

“There’s simply no standing to challenge whether or not, you know, the loan was sold, because that doesn’t have anything to do with Mr. Bentrin.” [Tr. 1015: 10-13]

“But a participation interest which is different than selling the note, was sold to The Money Store. And those are internal accounting documents that say sale when it’s really not a sale of the note and mortgage itself.” [Tr. R. 1025:7-11]

Based on these assurances, the Court declined to sanction Wells Fargo. The Court did make the following ruling from the bench, however:

“Now here is what I am going to do. I am going to make Wells Fargo counsel here provide me with a full accounting. I want the whole record of

what has transpired on that account. I will review it. I will do that, because that's what he's asking for." [R 1026.14]

On May 7, 2014, Wells Fargo's counsel submitted a letter enclosing the documents responsive to the Court's request for the full accounting. Importantly, Wells Fargo also included the Participation Interest Agreement with this explanation:

"As you are aware, the Court's March 5 Order (the "Order") requires Wells Fargo to produce records relating to the 'sale, repurchase, transfer, assignment, delivery or hypothecation of the Notes or Mortgages.' Wells Fargo believes that the referenced documents related to The Money Store are not responsive to the Order because they do not evidence a sale, repurchase, transfer, assignment delivery or hypothecation of the Note and Mortgage." [R. 1309-1310]

The next hearing was held June 9, 2014 on the parties' Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment and a Motion To Reconsider (alter or amend) a ruling in a discovery Order dated May 14, 2014 in which the Court held (in Section 5 thereof): *"Wells Fargo holds the original Note, and the Note is made payable to its predecessor in interest, First Union Nation Bank."* [R. 4]. Basically, Appellant argued that by stating Wells Fargo 'holds' the Note, the Court was ruling Wells Fargo was a holder, when it could not qualify for the same as a matter of law. [R. 148-151].

Five days prior to the June 9, 2014 hearing, Wells Fargo produced the affidavit of Wells Fargo vice president Matthew Wakefield which conceded that *"the beneficial interest of the Bentrin loan was sold for fair market value to TMS Service Corp., Inc. on or about November 29, 2006."* [R. 1294-1298]. Wells Fargo's counsel proceeded to argue at the hearing that there was no outright sale, but just an interest: *"Well, an interest in the Note was sold. I think that is an important distinction."* [R. 1051, 2:3]. Significantly, Appellant submitted the Third Affidavit of Clifton Boddiford, CPA and the Second Affidavit of Casimira Kita which both conclusively established by expert testimony that

the Bentrin loan ultimately belonged to a Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduit (“REMIC”) Trust identified as Pool 794. [R.1115-1116 and 1110-11102]. Additionally, Appellant filed a Supplemental Memorandum with exhibits on July 23, 2014. [R. 481-520].

The Master issued his Order on October 28, 2014. [R. 7-10]. In Section 4 he granted summary judgment on several causes of action and in Section 1, he specifically ruled that:

“Wells Fargo is the holder of the Note as a matter of law and a holder in due course of the Note as a matter of law. Further, even if Wells Fargo was not the holder, it would still qualify as a ‘person entitled to enforce’ as defined in S.C. Code Ann. §36-3-301. [R..7]

Appellant filed a second Motion to Reconsider on November 13, 2014. [R. 521]. Due to the fact it was a motion to reconsider a ruling on a prior Motion to Reconsider, Appellant served the instant Appeal on November 28, 2014. [R. 122] .On November 13, 2014, Appellant also moved for reconsideration of Section 4 of the Order, which had not previously been reconsidered. [R. 591]. A hearing on Appellant’s Motion to Reconsider Section 4 of the October 28, 2014 Order was held on January 12, 2015. Appellant’s Motion was denied as evidenced in the Master’s January 26, 2015 Order. [R. 13]. In a second order of that same date, however, the Master did compel Wells Fargo to produce the records transmitted to the court for *in camera* review [R. 15]. Wells Fargo complied with the Order on February 3, 2014 by transmitting vault records [Sealed App. R 1433-1445], and on February 12, 2014 by sending an incomplete Participation Interest Agreement (incomplete due to the absence of the Exhibit which would prove if the Bentrin Loan was contemplated in the document). [Sealed App. R 1320-1350]. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal with regards to this Order on or about March 2, 2015 [R. 121]. At a hearing on March 5, 2015, the Master declined to conduct any further action on the case. He did state:

"I think the whole thing is caught up in that holder language. It is or it is not." [R. 1097: 15-17]

The Court of Appeals consolidated these two appeals by an Order dated March 26, 2015.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing motions for summary judgment the Court of Appeals applies the same standard that governs the trial court; summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002); Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from it must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C.*, 354 S.C. 397, 404, 581 S.E.2d 161, 165 (2003). Under *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009), "the non-moving party is only required to submit a *mere scintilla* of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment."

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Is the Master's Order of October 28, 2014 governed by errors of law and/or are the genuine issues of material fact that would preclude summary judgment?

II. Is the holding of *Bank of America, N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C 215, 746 S.E.2d 478 (Ct. App. 2013) sufficient under these facts and as a valid legal precedent to be an alternate sustaining ground for the Master's Order of October 28, 2014?

ARGUMENT I

***Bank of America v. Draper* Should Not Be Deemed Alternate Grounds to Affirm the Master.**

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