THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough
Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2014-002590
Circuit Court Case No. 2011-CP-10-2946

RECEIVED

MAR 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Brent E. Bentrin, Appellant,

v.

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

WOMBLE CARLYLE SANDRIDGE & RICE, LLP

S. Sterling Laney, III
550 South Main Street, Suite 400
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 255-5400

Charles J. Baker, III
John C. Hawk, IV
5 Exchange St.
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 722-3400

Attorneys for Respondent

March 7, 2016

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

ARGUMENTS

Bentrim signed a Note and Mortgage in favor of First Union. Through a series of bank mergers, First Union became Wells Fargo. Bentrim refuses to make payments to Wells Fargo on the grounds he received the loan from First Union, not Wells Fargo. The lower court rejected this position, finding Wells Fargo is the holder of the note. Bentrim does not receive a windfall simply because First Union and Wells Fargo merged banks.

I. Wells Fargo is the holder of the note as a matter of law.

The lower court correctly ruled that Wells Fargo is the “holder” of the Note. This ruling is wholly supported by two undisputed facts: 1) Wells Fargo is in physical possession of the Note, and 2) the Note is payable to First Union, a predecessor in interest to Wells Fargo. Bentrim asserts that Wells Fargo cannot enforce the Note because it is not specifically made payable to Wells Fargo. While he would undoubtedly like to see his debt obligation erased, his argument defies logic and is not supported by either the Uniform Commercial Code or the National Bank Act.

The Note is a negotiable instrument governed by the UCC. The UCC provides the definition of a “holder”:

‘Holder’ means a person who is in possession of a document of title or an instrument or a certificated investment security drawn, issued, or indorsed to him or to his order or to bearer or in blank.

S.C. Code Ann. § 36-1-201(20) (Rev. 2003).³

³ The definition of “holder” has remained essentially the same since 1991. The definition, however, was “reorganized for clarity” in 2014. S.C. Code Ann. § 36-1-201(20), Official Comment (Supp. 2014). It now reads: “‘Holder’ means: (A) the person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to bearer or an identified person that is the person in possession” For purposes of this analysis, it makes no difference which version of the definition is used.

Wells Fargo is the holder because it is the "person who is in possession of" the Note and the Note is, in effect, "issued" to it. While the name "Wells Fargo" does not appear on the Note, the Note is payable to First Union, and Wells Fargo, by operation of federal law, is deemed to be the same corporation as First Union. When national banks merge, the successor bank *becomes* the predecessor bank in the eyes of the law. When First Union and Wachovia merged, the consolidated entity known as Wachovia was deemed to be the same company as its predecessor in interest, First Union. Similarly, after merging with Wachovia, Wells Fargo is deemed to be the same bank as Wachovia. Further, all property interests, including promissory notes, were transferred to and vested in Wells Fargo without any type of transfer, such as endorsement. Therefore, due to these bank consolidations, a promissory note made payable to First Union is the equivalent of a promissory note made payable to Wells Fargo.

The National Bank Act provides as follows:

The corporate existence of each of the consolidating banks or banking associations participating in such consolidation shall be merged into and continued in the consolidated national banking association and such consolidated national banking association **shall be deemed to be the same corporation** as each bank or banking association participating in the consolidation. All rights, franchises, and interests of the individual consolidating banks or banking associations in and to every type of property (real, personal, and mixed) and choses in action shall be transferred to and vested in the consolidated national banking association by virtue of such consolidation **without any deed or other transfer**. The consolidated national banking association, upon the consolidation and without any order or other action on the part of any court or otherwise, shall hold and enjoy all rights of property, franchises, and interests, including appointments, designations, and nominations, and all other rights and interests as trustee, executor, administrator, registrar of stocks and bonds, guardian of estates, assignee, and receiver, and in every other fiduciary capacity, in the same manner and to the same extent as such rights, franchises, and interests were held or enjoyed by any one of the consolidating banks or banking associations at the time of consolidation, subject to the conditions hereinafter provided.

12 U.S.C. § 215(e) (emphasis added). South Carolina has a parallel banking statute to the same effect. S.C. Code Ann. § 34-3-850 (Supp. 2014).

While there is no South Carolina case law directly on point, courts across the country have uniformly held that, following a merger of national banks, the successor bank is deemed the holder of promissory notes previously made payable to one of the consolidating banks. *See In Re Yopp*, 720 S.E.2d 769, 775 (N.C. App. 2011) (under North Carolina law, successor becomes legal holder of former bank's promissory notes); *Fidelity Tax, L.L.C v. Hall*, No. 12AP-923, slip op. at 3-4 (Ohio App. July 18, 2013) (successor bank becomes holder of promissory note following merger under both Ohio and federal law); *In Re N.C. Deed of Trust*, 719 S.E.2d 207, 210-11 (N.C. App. 2011) (“[T]he evidence of the merger between LaSalle and Bank of America is competent evidence that Bank of America is the holder of the Loan Documents”); *Premier Bank v. Diagle*, 599 So. 2d 503, 504-05 (La. App. 1992) (successor bank in merger becomes holder of prior bank's promissory notes under 12 U.S.C. § 215); *Valley Nat'l Bank v. Chaim*, 984 N.Y.S.2d 635, 635, 2014 WL 30712 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2014) (under 12 U.S.C. § 215, successor bank acquires rights to prior bank's notes and mortgages); *Berkshire Bank v. Hartford Club*, No. HHDCV136042955S, 2014 WL 565173, at *4 (Conn. Super. Ct. Jan. 13, 2014) (successor bank is holder of note following merger with another bank because it gains title to prior bank's instruments); *Capital One, N.A. v. Finmar Assocs.*, No. 3403-11, 2013 WL 3242525, at *4 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. June 28, 2013) (under both state and federal law, successor bank is holder of prior bank's notes following merger); *In re Rodriguez*, No. 11-BK-18847-RGM, 2015 WL 403968, at *2 (E.D. Va. Jan. 29, 2015) (“On November 1, 2009, World [Savings Bank] merged with Wachovia Bank, N.A. Wachovia subsequently merged with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. Under 12 U.S.C. § 215(e), Wells Fargo became the holder of the Note upon which this case is based.”).

The unspoken result of Bentrin's argument is that the Note is *not enforceable by any party* and he receives a windfall in the form of a cancelled debt obligation. The law is not to be construed in a manner that would award a party an undue windfall. See *Williamson v. U.S. Fire Ins. Co.*, 314 S.C. 215, 218, 442 S.E.2d 587, 588 (1994) (explaining that public policy does not favor windfalls); see also *Edwards v. Columbia, S.C., Teachers Fed. Credit Union*, 276 S.C. 89, 275 S.E.2d 879 (1981). The UCC and 12 U.S.C. § 215(e) work together to prevent the illogical outcome of Bentrin's argument. Neither Bentrin nor any other former customers of First Union should have their debts forgiven simply because First Union merged with Wachovia and Wachovia with Wells Fargo.⁴

Wells Fargo's status as holder gives it the right to enforce the Note: "The holder of an instrument whether or not he is the owner may . . . enforce payment in its own name." S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301 (Rev. 2003). Accordingly, the lower court was correct in ruling that Wells Fargo is the holder and entitled to enforce the Note.⁵

⁴ Since federal law and state law do not conflict in this instance, preemption is not an issue here; but, if it were, federal law would prevail. By virtue of the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, "[e]ven where Congress has not completely displaced state regulation in a specific area, state law is nullified to the extent that it actually conflicts with federal law." *Fid. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. de la Cuesta*, 458 U.S. 141, 153 (1982). Federal courts have determined that 12 U.S.C. § 215 preempts state law in matters concerning appointment of successor fiduciaries and general fiduciary duties. See *NCNB Texas Nat'l Bank v. Cowden*, 895 F.2d 1488, 1497 (5th Cir. 1990). It follows that, if the operation of 12 U.S.C. § 215(e) makes a successor bank the holder of the prior bank's instruments, then that result preempts a contrary result under UCC Article 3.

⁵ Section 36-3-301 was amended in 2008 to recognize that "enforcement is not limited to holders." S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301, Official Comment (Supp. 2014). Wells Fargo, because it is the holder, is also a "person entitled to enforce" under the new version of the statute. ("Person entitled to enforce" an instrument means (i) the holder of the instrument . . . ,"). Further, even if Wells Fargo were not the holder, it would still be entitled to enforce the Note under the new version of the statute as "a nonholder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder" since, under the National Bank Act, Wells Fargo "hold[s] and enjoy[s] all

II. Bentrim's attempt to overturn *Draper* is not properly before the Court.

Bank of America, N.A. v. Draper, 405 S.C. 214, 746 S.E.2d 478 (Ct. App. 2013), established that a loan servicer has standing to initiate a foreclosure action on behalf of the owner of the loan. Bentrim "contends that not only should the Court of Appeals decline to extend *Draper* to the appeal at bar, but that it should overturn the case entirely." (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 14). *Draper*, however, is not properly before the Court. The lower court's rulings in this case rest on Wells Fargo's status as a holder, not servicer, and for purposes of this appeal, Wells Fargo is not relying on the *Draper* holding as an additional sustaining ground.

Bentrim acknowledges the lower court did not rely on *Draper*, yet he urges the Court to overturn the case because he "believes Wells Fargo will argue *Draper*'s application as an additional sustaining ground." (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 13). Bentrim's supposition - which is incorrect - does not give him standing to argue against *Draper* in this appeal. An appellate court may consider an additional sustaining ground when "the party who prevailed in the lower court urges an appellate court to affirm the lower court's ruling for a reason other than one primarily relied upon by the lower court." *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 417, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722 (2000). Bentrim, of course, is not the "party who prevailed in the lower court." As such, he may only address an issue if it is first raised by Wells Fargo as an additional sustaining ground.

There is therefore no reason for this Court to address *Draper*. If the Court were to do so, however, it should uphold its prior opinion. The *Draper* decision comports with the vast majority of decisions from courts across the country which have addressed the issue of whether a servicer has standing to bring a foreclosure. See, e.g., *Greer v. O'Dell*, 305 F.3d 1297, 1301

rights of property . . . in the same manner and to the same extent as such rights . . . were held or enjoyed" by First Union and Wachovia. 12 U.S.C § 215(e).

(11th Cir. 2002) (“[T]he sole issue before us is whether a loan servicer is a ‘real party in interest’ with standing to conduct, through licensed counsel, the legal affairs of the investor relating to the debt that it services. We answer this question in the affirmative.”); *J.E. Robert Co., Inc. v. Signature Prop’s, LLC*, 71 A.3d 492, 500 (Conn. 2013) (loan servicer is entitled to enforce the note it services) (collecting cases); *Green Tree Serv. LLC v. Sanders*, No. 2005-CA-000371-MR, 2006 WL 2033668, at *3–4 (Ky. Ct. App. July 21, 2006) (servicer of a mortgage loan is a real party in interest in a foreclosure action); *U.S. Bank Nat’l Ass’n v. Gunn*, 31 F. Supp. 3d 636, 639–40 (D. Del. 2014) (servicer is a real party in interest in cases where the loan serviced is the subject of litigation); *In re Neals*, 459 B.R. 612, 617 (Bankr. D.S.C. 2011) (“[T]here is a general view, which has been accepted in this jurisdiction and others, that a loan servicer is a ‘party in interest’ and has standing by virtue of its pecuniary interest in collecting payments under the terms of the note and mortgage.”).⁶

In the event the Court believes Bentrim’s arguments regarding *Draper* warrant appellate review, Wells Fargo respectfully requests that the Court establish a supplemental briefing schedule allowing it, as well as any interested third parties, to fully address Bentrim’s unusual request.

III. Summary judgment was properly entered for ten of Bentrim’s causes of action.

A. There is no need for additional discovery because the facts relevant to the lower court’s rulings are not disputed.

Throughout his opening brief, Bentrim makes the argument that he should be allowed more time for discovery before summary judgment is considered. Requests for more discovery, however, do not operate as a cure-all when a plaintiff’s claims are defective as a matter of law.

⁶ As Bentrim’s theories of liability have evolved, so has his position on *Draper*. He previously acknowledged to Judge Scarborough in open court that a servicer has the right to bring a foreclosure action. (R. p. 899; Feb. 10, 2014 Tr. 15:3-4: “We concede Mr. Laney’s point that a servicer can bring a claim.”).

Instead, summary judgment can be forestalled only when the additional requested discovery bears on dispositive issues. *See, e.g., Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003) (“[T]he nonmoving party must demonstrate the likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional *relevant* evidence and that the party is ‘not merely engaged in a “fishing expedition.”” (quoting *Baughman v. AT&T Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 544 (1991))) (emphasis added); *Guinan v. Tenet Healthsystems of Hilton Head, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 48, 54–55, 677 S.E.2d 32, 36 (Ct. App. 2009) (affirming summary judgment despite the appellant’s claim for more discovery because “on appeal, Guinan fails to demonstrate further discovery would uncover additional *relevant* evidence or create a genuine issue of material fact”) (emphasis added); *see also Wieters v. Roper Hosp., Inc.*, 58 F. App’x 40, 44 (4th Cir. 2003) (affirming summary judgment despite the submission of a Rule 56(f) affidavit because the nonmovant had failed to explain how the additional requested discovery “will be useful in resisting summary judgment”).

In this regard, “[a] complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the non-moving party’s case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.” *Gauld v. O’Shaughnessy Realty Co.*, 380 S.C. 548, 559, 671 S.E.2d 79, 85 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *Baughman*, 306 S.C. at 116, 410 S.E.2d at 546). This legal principle underscores the fundamental defect in Bentrin’s request for more discovery here. There is no dispute that Wells Fargo is the successor in interest to First Union, by way of merger with Wachovia, or that the Note is made to First Union without any subsequent endorsements or allonges. No amount of discovery can change these dispositive facts. *See Powell v. Bank of Am.*, 379 S.C. 437, 447, 665 S.E.2d 237, 242 (Ct. App. 2008) (reiterating the “overarching rule of civil procedure” that “whatever doesn’t make any difference, doesn’t matter” (quoting *McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987))).

Similarly, the lower court granted summary judgment on ten of Bentrim's causes of action because the discovery of additional evidence could not salvage those claims. The Court should reject Bentrim's attempt to unnecessarily prolong this matter with additional discovery that cannot alter the lower court's unavoidable conclusions.

B. The Consumer Protection Code does not apply to Bentrim's loan.

The lower court correctly granted summary judgment on Bentrim's claim alleging a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108 (Rev. 2015), part of the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code. This section "applies to actions or other proceedings to enforce rights arising from consumer credit sales, consumer leases, *consumer loans*, and consumer rental-purchase agreements." S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-102 (emphasis added). "Consumer loan" is a defined term under the statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 37-3-104. Importantly, however, the term "does not include a loan secured by a first lien *or equivalent security interest in real estate*." S.C. Code Ann. § 37-3-105 (emphasis added). Therefore, as a matter of law, Section 37-5-108 does not apply to a first mortgage real estate loan or its equivalent.

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